ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 06 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CRYSTAL NICOLE THOMAS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212561

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENJAMIN JOHN TRIPP
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal on the charge of second degree assault and battery for failing to provide evidence of “moderate bodily injury”?

- II. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress an alleged statement by Appellant that she had HIV or AIDS after biting a corrections officer where the bite occurred prior to the alleged statement, and where both Appellant and the corrections officer tested negative?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Crystal Nicole Thomas was indicted by the Chester County grand jury on August 30, 2011, for assault and battery, second degree (A&B 2nd). R. 23, lines 11-14; R. 287 – R. 288 (Indictment). Her case proceeded to trial from April 17th through 18th, 2012, before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith and a jury. Twana Burris (Counsel) represented Appellant, while Julie Hall represented the State. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 266, lines 21-25. The trial court imposed a sentence of three years incarceration, suspended upon service of one year, followed by two years probation. R. 279, lines 5-14.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was stopped at a license check point when driving a car on the night of June 23, 2011. She was arrested and taken to jail because her license was suspended at the time. R. 184, line 1—R. 185, line 14; R. 187, lines 3-4.

After arriving at the Chester County Detention Center (CCDC) in the early morning of June 24, 2011, Appellant was placed into a five foot by eight foot holding cell for being uncontrollable during the booking process. R. 57, line 22—R. 58, line 22; R. 90, line 14—R. 91, line 24. About five minutes after Appellant was put in the cell, Officer Donnie Funderburk (Funderburk) noticed that Appellant was lying down, slapping her hands and hitting her head on the floor. Funderburk entered the cell and called for assistance. More officers arrived, including Lieutenant Arthur Wayne Totherow (Totherow). Totherow also called for assistance, and specifically called for officers to bring a restraint chair. R. 50, lines 2-24; R. 92, lines 5-24.

Appellant was handcuffed and placed into the restraint chair by Funderburk and Totherow. Totherow subsequently “dry stunned” Appellant with his taser “for pain compliance” to get her legs strapped into the chair. R. 51, line 10—R. 52, line 17. Throughout the process, Appellant continued to rock back and forth, and to say that she could not breathe and that she was in pain. R. 51, lines 1-3; R. 53, lines 7-12.

Approximately thirty minutes later, Totherow, Funderburk, and others returned to check on Appellant. R. 53, lines 16-20. They removed the handcuffs to move Appellant’s hands out from behind her back, and into the straps of the restraint chair. As Totherow put his hand on Appellant’s shoulder and leaned over her, his “forearm got close to her mouth and she locked down on [his] arm.” R. 54, lines 2-9. At trial, Totherow testified that, after

Appellant bit him, Appellant said “she had AIDS and that she hoped I had it also.” R. 55, lines 2-3.¹

Totherow finished strapping Appellant to the restraint chair and walked to the nurse station in the control room to look at the bite. Totherow testified that the bite mark was bleeding, and that another officer cleansed his arm and wrapped it for him. R. 54, lines 14-23. Deputy Kyle Brandon Cummings (Cummings) also arrived at the scene at CCDC, and took photographs of Totherow’s arm. R. 1120, lines 1-19; R. ii (State’s Exhibit #3, Photos).

Further, Totherow went to the Chester Regional Medical Center at approximately 3:12 a.m. that morning. R 280 – R. 286 (State’s Exhibit #1, Medical Report). The resulting report indicated *inter alia* the following information regarding Totherow’s injury:

(1) under the “CHIEF COMPLAINT” section, that
“Patient states symptoms are of mild severity;”

(2) under the “PHYSICAL EXAMINATION” section,
that the “bite to mid forearm did not penetrate past dermis,
more of an abrasive bite;” and

(3) under the “INSTRUCTIONS” section, that
“Prescription(s) written for: Doxycycline 100 mg: one pill by
mouth twice a day for 7 (seven) days for infection
Patient advised to use ibuprofen Patient advised to use
acetaminophen.

R 280 – R. 286 (State’s Exhibit #1, Medical Report). In short, Totherow was given antibiotics to take orally. R. 82, lines 8-11.

Additionally, pursuant to policy of the facility, Totherow was tested for sexually transmitted diseases, which included a test for HIV, several days after the incident. R. 81,

¹ Although Funderburk indicated a similar statement occurred, Appellant did not remember ever saying anything about AIDS because, as she said, “I she don’t have HIV or AIDS or any other STD for that matter.” R. 94, lines 16-17; R. 208, lines 11-22.

line 23—R. 82, line 1. In fact, testimony from Major Billy Wayne Alley, Jr., (Alley) of the Chester County Sheriff's Office, detention division, indicated that Totherow would have been sent for such a test pursuant to policy at the facility even if Appellant had not made the alleged statement that she was HIV positive. R. 149, lines 10-22. Moreover, Alley also had Appellant tested as well. R. 149, lines 1-9. Neither Appellant, nor Totherow were HIV positive. R. 82, lines 20-21; R. 249, lines 19-20.

Prior to the beginning of trial, Counsel moved to suppress any reference to Appellant having AIDS. R. 11, line 15—R. 12, line 25; R. 14, lines 10-19. Specifically, Counsel argued that AIDS is not essential or relevant to the charged offense of A&B 2nd, especially since Appellant did not test positive for HIV. Counsel further asserted that mention of HIV or AIDS would be highly prejudicial by creating an irrational fear or phobia with the jury. R. 14, lines 3-25.

The State opposed, arguing “it was part and parcel of the assault.” R. 13, line 2—R. 14, line 7. The trial court stated, “[y]eah, I’m inclined to agree,” and invited Counsel to provide further argument. R. 14, lines 8-9. Counsel then argued that Petitioner did not have the present ability to harm Totherow with AIDS. R. 14, lines 10-19. However, the trial court ultimately ruled as follows:

[B]ut she caused him to believe that—placing him in fear of it. At any rate, that’s going to be the ruling of the Court on that issue.

R. 14, lines 20-22. Consequently, in the State’s opening statement, it proclaimed the following to the jury:

You’re also going to hear testimony that [Appellant] made statements after she—or as—as or after she was biting [Totherow] that she has HIV. And I will tell you now that later on she was tested and then evidence is going to show

that she was found to be negative. But the situation is as it's going on and as she's biting him and saying this thing, that's when the assault and battery is occurring. Whatever happens after it is no longer relevant to the charges.

R. 26, lines 15-22.

During trial, the State indeed elicited testimony about Appellant allegedly stating, after she bit Totherow, that she had AIDS. R. 55, lines 2-3; R. 94, lines 16-17. Also, the State repeatedly referred to Appellant's alleged statement regarding AIDS in its closing argument in support of its theory of A&B 2nd. R. 245, lines 14-22; R. 248, lines 19-25; R. 249, line 3—R. 250, line 10; R. 251, line 24—R. 252, line 3; R. 253, lines 3-8; R. 255, lines 1-3. For example, at one point the State told the jury that “the core issue of what happened” was “*her biting him and then saying I have AIDS. That's—That's really all we're dealing with here.*” R. 245, lines 14-16 (emphasis added). Also, when attempting to link this theory to the element of “moderate bodily injury,” the State made the following argument to the jury:

But he was bleeding. And then he's got—you can see the full teeth marks on his arm when you look at it. And when you look at the video, you can see the bandage that's on his arm too.

But moderate bodily injury, we'll go through that for just a second. It did occur or it could have occurred. The statute does define it as you have to have stitches or you have to—you have anesthesia or something. I submit to you in this case it could have occurred. She bit him, she takes what she—what comes after that.

And I would submit to you that she said, I have AIDS. And they have no reason not to believe her at this point. This is a threat. This is an exacerbation, making it worse. And she had that's all the information they had at that point. And at that point was when you determine what charge to make.

If she had had AIDS, it would have gotten a lot worse. Thankfully, for her she didn't. And I would submit that that threat is real.

.....

Why on Earth would Totherow have submitted—he's got to have a blood test to find out if he has AIDS.

And then, I mean, he stated that he still doesn't know. This could lie dormant for seven years. He's got to wonder about it except for the fact she was tested and she did test negative. But they went to the expense and trouble of taking her down to the hospital based on her threat. He went to the trouble and pain, I would submit, of having his blood drawn to be tested himself based on a threat.

R. 249, line 3—R. 250, line 10 (emphasis added).

Finally, Counsel moved for a directed verdict of acquittal at the close of the State's case-in-chief, and again at the close of the defense's case. R. 174, line 3—R. 175, line 16; R. 227, lines 19-23. Specifically, Counsel argued that there was no evidence as to Appellant actually or attempting to injure Totherow under the elements of A&B 2nd. R. 174, line 3—R. 175, line 16. The trial court denied Appellant's motions. R. 175, lines 17-19; R. 227, line 24—R. 228, line 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty of A&B 2nd. R. 266, lines 21-25. Appellant was sentenced to three years incarceration, suspended upon service of one year and followed by two years probation. R. 279, lines 5-14.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court reversibly erred by failing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal on the charge of second degree assault and battery for failing to provide evidence of “moderate bodily injury.”

The trial court erred by failing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal in Appellant’s trial for A&B 2nd because the State failed to prove the material element of an attempt or actual “moderate bodily injury” by Appellant upon Totherow. First, the record indicates that Appellant never had either HIV or AIDS. Second, the testimony and medical records indicate that Totherow only suffered a bite that bled, but did not even puncture all of the layers of his skin. Further, by the State’s own admission, Totherow received no stitches and no anesthesia to treat he bite. Therefore, the State failed to provide any evidence that Appellant either attempted to or actually did inflict “moderate bodily injury” upon Totherow by biting him, or even had the present ability to inflict such an injury.

A trial court must direct á verdict of acquittal when the record does not contain evidence to support every element of the charged offense. See, e.g., State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 586, 602 S.E.2d 392, 395 (2004); State v. Evans, 376 S.C. 421, 424, 656 S.E.2d 782, 783 (Ct. App. 2008) (“A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the state fails to produce evidence on a material element of the offense charged.”); see also In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1073 (1970) (“Lest there remain any doubt about the constitutional stature of the reasonable-doubt standard, we explicitly hold that the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.”). When considering a motion for directed verdict of acquittal, “the trial court is

concerned the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight.” Brown, 360 S.C. at 586, 602 S.E.2d at 395.

The statute regarding A&B 2nd provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

(D)(1) A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the second degree if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, *and*:

(a) *moderate bodily injury* to another person results or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted;

S.C. Code § 16-3-600(D)(1)(a) (West, Westlaw current through end of 2012 Reg. Sess.)

(emphasis added). Additionally, the code defines “moderate bodily injury” as follows:

(A) For purposes of this section:

(2) “Moderate bodily injury” means physical injury requiring treatment to an organ system of the body *other than the skin*, muscles, and connective tissues of the body, *except when there is penetration of the skin*, muscles, and connective tissues *that require surgical repair of a complex nature or when treatment of the injuries requires the use of regional or general anesthesia*.

S.C. Code § 16-3-600(A)(2) (West, Westlaw current through end of 2012 Reg. Sess.)

(emphasis added). As such, in order for an injury to a person’s skin to satisfy the “moderate bodily injury” element of A&B 2nd, that injury must have resulted or could have resulted in penetration requiring surgical repair of a complex nature or treatment using regional or general anesthesia.

In the present case, the State failed to meet its burden of proving this critical element: it failed to prove that moderate bodily injury either resulted or could have resulted from Appellant’s bite. First, the actual injury to Totherow falls woefully short of satisfying the statutory definition of “moderate bodily injury.” In particular, the evidence shows that

injury to Totherow was literally only skin deep: the medical report specifically stated that the bite “did not penetrate past dermis, more of an abrasive bite.” R 280 – R. 286 (State’s Exhibit #1, Medical Report). While an abrasion such as this apparently bleeds, it certainly did not require “surgical repair of a complex nature” or “the use of general or regional anesthesia.” S.C. Code § 16-3-600(A)(2) (West, Westlaw current through end of 2012 Reg. Sess.). Even the photographs taken by Cummings indicate the bite mark was not severe. R. ii (State’s Exhibit #3, Photos). Indeed, even Totherow’s own words to the medical staff at the Chester Regional Medical Center indicate the mildness of the injury: “Patient states symptoms are of mild severity.” R. 280 – R. 286 (State’s Exhibit #1, Medical Report). Finally, Totherow testified, and the State conceded, neither Totherow nor Appellant had AIDS. R. 13, lines 5-9; R. 82, lines 20-21; R. 249, lines 19-20; R. 250, lines 4-7. Accordingly, Totherow’s actual injuries fail to meet the “moderate bodily injury” element of A&B 2nd.

Further, contrary to the State’s theory of the entire case, the purported statement made by Appellant regarding AIDS does not satisfy the “moderate bodily injury” element of A&B 2nd either because she neither attempted to infect Totherow with AIDS, nor had the present ability to do so. Even assuming, without conceding, that Appellant made the alleged statement in question, it would have been after Totherow was bitten. R. 55, lines 2-3; R. 94, lines 16-17. In other words, the purported statement would have been made after the unlawful touching was complete.

Additionally, the State readily conceded that Appellant never had either HIV or AIDS. R. 13, lines 5-9; R. 82, lines 20-21; R. 249, lines 19-20; R. 250, lines 4-7. In fact, its

closing argument indicates that Totherow does not truly have to be concerned with possible dormancy of HIV in his system specifically because Appellant tested negative:

And then, I mean, he stated that he still doesn't know. This could lie dormant for seven years. He's got to wonder about it *except for the fact she was tested and she did test negative.*

R. 250, lines 4-7 (emphasis added). Thus, Appellant neither actually infected Totherow with AIDS, nor could she have infected Totherow with AIDS. Succinctly stated, under the specific facts of this case, the State's entire theory—that “[Appellant] bit Totherow, said I have AIDS and it's assault and battery second”—collapses upon itself for failure to prove the distinguishing element of A&B 2nd; that “moderate bodily injury to another person results or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted.” R. 255, lines 1-3. Accordingly, the trial court erred by refusing to grant Appellant's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal on the charge of A&B 2nd.

Finally, Petitioner was prejudiced by the Court's failure to direct a verdict of acquittal. Appellant was convicted of A&B 2nd by the jury after the offense was improperly submitted to it by the court. Accordingly, Petitioner respectfully requests reversal of her conviction, and remand to the trial court with instructions to direct a verdict of acquittal.

II. The trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress an alleged statement by Appellant that she had HIV or AIDS after biting a corrections officer where the bite occurred prior to the alleged statement, and where both Appellant and the corrections officer tested negative.

The trial court erred by failing to suppress any mention of HIV or AIDS by the State in Appellant's trial. Even assuming that Appellant made the alleged statement in question, it would have been after Totherow was bitten. In other words, the purported statement would have been made after the unlawful touching was complete. Additionally, the record indicates that Appellant never had either HIV or AIDS. As such, this fact, coupled with the timing of the alleged statement, lead to the indelible conclusion that Appellant had never had the present ability to either attempt or actually inflict "moderate bodily injury" upon Totherow by biting him. Accordingly, Appellant's alleged statement regarding HIV or AIDS was irrelevant to the charge of A&B 2nd. Further, even if such a statement was relevant to some degree, the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

"Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears." State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986) (citing Assoc. Mgmt. v. E.D. Sauls Constr.Co., 279 S.C. 219, 305 S.E.2d 236 (1983)); see also Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence). Further, "[e]vidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent." Id. (citing Toole v. Salter, 249 S.C. 354, 154 S.E.2d 434 (1967)); see also Rule 402, SCRE ("All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.").

Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence allows for even relevant evidence to be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE; see also State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 370 (1995) (“It is well settled that evidence should be excluded when its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect.”). “The term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.” Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 112, 180, 117 S.Ct. 644, 650 (1997); see also State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991).

“For purposes of the Rule 403 weighing of the probative against the prejudicial, the functions of the competing evidence are distinguishable only by the risk inherent in the one and wholly absent from the other.” Id. 519 U.S. at 910, 117 S.Ct. at 655.

In the present case, the trial court erroneously permitted the State to use Appellant’s purported statement, after biting Totherow, that she had AIDS. First, under the facts of this particular case, petitioner’s alleged statement was not relevant to proving the elements of the charged offense. See Issue I, supra; cf. State v. Deal, 319 S.C. 49, 53, 459 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 1995). Second, it was not relevant to countering a defense argument, such as consensual touching. See, e.g., State v. Chisholm, 395 S.C. 259, 272-73, 717 S.E.2d 614, 620-21 (Ct. App. 2011). Third, the State conceded that Appellant never had either HIV or AIDS. R. 13, lines 5-9; R. 82, lines 20-21; R. 249, lines 19-20; R. 250, lines 4-7. Further, the alleged statement was not made until after the touching occurred. Accordingly, the purported statement was not relevant because it did not tend “to establish or to make more

or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears.” Schmidt, 288 S.C. at 303, 342 S.E.2d at 403; see also Rule 401, SCRE.

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