STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Chester County  
The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2012-212561

---

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

CRYSTAL NICOLE THOMAS,

APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

CHRISTINA J. CATOE  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

REC-000000  
AUG 12 2013  
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **The directed verdict argument raised on appeal is not preserved for appellate review because this argument was not made to the trial judge below. However, even if the issue had been preserved, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because sufficient evidence was presented supporting Appellant's guilt on the charge of assault and battery in the second degree.**
  
- II. **The trial judge properly permitted testimony about the statement Appellant made to the officer immediately after she bit him because this testimony was part of the *res gestae* of the crime and because it was highly relevant to show Appellant's intent and to rebut her contention that the bite was accidentally inflicted in the course of an alleged panic attack.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted in Chester County in August 2011 for assault and battery in the second degree pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-3-600. On April 17-18, 2012, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith and the jury found her guilty. Judge Goldsmith sentenced Appellant to three years, suspended upon service of one year of active time and two years of probation. A timely notice of appeal was served and filed.

## ARGUMENT

### Background Facts

Appellant stopped at a license checkpoint on June 24, 2011 in Chester County and was subsequently arrested for driving under suspension. (R. p. 184-85). Officer Totherow was on duty at the detention center when Appellant arrived around midnight. (R. p. 48-50). Appellant began acting out and generally “making a scene,” so officers placed her in a restraint chair for her own safety. (R. p. 50-53). At some point thereafter officers decided to remove Appellant’s handcuffs from behind her back, and Officer Totherow assisted. (R. p. 53-54). During this process, Appellant once again started struggling with the officers, and when Officer Totherow’s forearm came close to her mouth, she “locked down” on his arm “pretty good,” biting him. (R. p. 54; p. 72-73). Immediately after releasing his arm, Appellant stated that she “had AIDS” and hoped he now had it also. (R. p. 54-55; see also p. 94, lines 16-17; p. 103, lines 1-5).

Officer Totherow testified that after the bite, he noticed his arm was “bleeding pretty good.” (R. p. 54). He testified that Appellant’s “teeth went through the layers of skin.” (R. p. 73, lines 3-6). Officer Cummings, who photographed the injury, observed that Officer Totherow’s skin was broken. (R. p. 112, lines 19-24; p. 119-21). Officer Totherow went to the emergency room to have the bite checked out, and although it turned out that stitches were not required, the doctor applied a topical ointment and gave him a tetanus shot and a course of antibiotics.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 73; p. 81-82; p. 124-25). In addition, because of Appellant’s threat of transmission of the AIDS virus, Officer Totherow was tested for HIV. (R. p. 81-82). The test came back negative. (R. p. 82,

---

<sup>1</sup> Officer Totherow’s medical records were introduced into evidence as State’s Exhibit #1. (See R. p. 124-27). One of the records indicated that Officer Totherow had a “bite to mid-forearm” and that the bite “did not penetrate past dermis” and was “more of an abrasive bite.” (R. p. 127, lines 17-23).

lines 14-24). Appellant was tested for HIV as well and her test was also negative. (R. p. 26, lines 17-19; p. 149).

Appellant's defense at trial was that she was having a panic attack that night and did not remember biting Officer Totherow, did not intend to bite him, and did not make any comment about having AIDS. (See R. p. 208, lines 3-18; p. 185-210; see also p. 28-32; p. 231-42).

**I. The directed verdict argument raised on appeal is not preserved for appellate review because this argument was not made to the trial judge below. However, even if the issue had been preserved, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because sufficient evidence was presented supporting Appellant's guilt on the charge of assault and battery in the second degree.**

Appellant argues on appeal that the State failed to provide evidence of "moderate bodily injury" as required by the applicable statute. This argument is not preserved for appellate review. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). An appellant is limited to the arguments he makes at trial. See, e.g., State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). "Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000); see also Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) ("Issue preservation rules are

designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.”) (citation omitted).

At the close of the State’s case, Appellant made a motion for directed verdict, stating as follows:

Understanding that the Court would be concerned with existence or non-existence of evidence, its weight, it is our position that – understanding that the elements of assault and battery, second, is whether or not Crystal Thomas injured or attempted to injure Officer Totherow or threatened to actually cause harm to Officer Totherow, it remains – it is our position and remains our position that there is not any evidence of this. Officer Totherow – well, of course, there was testimony from Officer Totherow, who indicated that Crystal Thomas did actually bite him. And then Officer Funderburk – in that she was conscious of what she was doing. And Officer Funderburk did actually testify that she latched on. But both of these officers indicated that they were not certainly sure as to, I guess, what was going on at that time. Officer Totherow specifically stated that his arm slipped, but then it also ended up in her mouth, and then that’s when she specifically bit him. It is our position, of course, that there is not any evidence as to Crystal Thomas actually harming, or threatening to harm or injure Officer Totherow in this particular case. And we would ask for a directed verdict in this case. (R. p. 174, line 17 – p. 175, line 16).

The trial judge responded, “All right. I understand the argument, but I believe there is sufficient evidence for this matter to be sent to the jury.” (R. p. 175, lines 17-19).

Since Appellant’s only argument below in support of her directed verdict motion was a general argument that there was “not any evidence” that Appellant harmed or threatened to harm or injure the officer, the issue raised on appeal regarding the State’s failure to establish the “moderate bodily injury” element is clearly unpreserved for review.<sup>2</sup> See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal.”); State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 455, 503 S.E.2d 214, 221 (Ct. App. 1998) (“A

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant also did not *specifically* renew her directed verdict motion at the close of all the evidence. (See R. p. 227-28). See State v. Rosemond, 348 S.C. 621, 627-28, 560 S.E.2d 636, 639-40 (Ct. App. 2002).

defendant cannot argue on appeal an issue in support of his directed verdict motion when the issue was not presented to the trial court below.”) (citation omitted) *aff’d on other grounds*, 337 S.C. 617, 524 S.E.2d 837 (1999) (citation omitted); State v. Adams, 332 S.C. 139, 144-145, 504 S.E.2d 124, 126-27 (Ct. App. 1998) (argument regarding denial of directed verdict was not preserved for review where the precise issue was not raised below); see also In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 92-93, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (citation omitted) (where appellant made only a general directed verdict motion at trial, stating “‘I think [the State has] failed to meet their burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt,’” nothing was preserved for appellate review). Therefore, this Court must dismiss the directed verdict issue on error preservation grounds. Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. at 330, 730 S.E.2d at 285 (when an issue is clearly unpreserved, the appellate court should follow longstanding precedent and resolve the issue on preservation grounds).

Even if the issue had been properly preserved, the State submits that Appellant’s directed verdict motion was properly denied. S.C. Code § 16-3-600(D)(1) states that “[a] person commits the offense of assault and battery in the second degree if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and . . . (a) moderate bodily injury to another person results or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted.” S.C. Code § 16-3-600(D)(1). Section (A)(2) of the statute defines “moderate bodily injury” as “physical injury requiring treatment to an organ system of the body other than the skin, muscles, and connective tissues of the body, except when there is penetration of the skin, muscles, and connective tissues that require surgical repair of a complex nature or when treatment of the injuries requires the use of regional or general anesthesia.”

S.C. Code § 16-3-600, which went into effect in June 2010, codified assault and battery offenses, which were formerly established under the common law, and created different degrees of “assault and battery.” The subsection creating the offense of “assault and battery in the second degree” criminalizes conduct that would have constituted “assault and battery” under the common law in addition to conduct that would have constituted only “assault” under the common law. Further, although the statute added some new elements into the offense of assault and battery (for example, the specific definition of “moderate bodily injury”), the statute retained some elements from the common-law definitions of “assault and battery” and “assault.” At common law, “assault” was generally defined as an attempted battery or an unlawful attempt or offer to commit a violent injury upon another person, coupled with the “present ability” to complete the attempt or offer by committing a battery. State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 397, 532 S.E.2d 283, 285 (2000). However, our Supreme Court recognized in Sutton that an assault can also occur when, by words and conduct, a person intentionally creates a *reasonable apprehension* of bodily harm. Id. at 398, 532 S.E.2d at 285-86. Under this definition, an assault can occur “even though the defendant *does not have the ability to complete a battery* and/or there is not an attempted battery.” Id. at 398, 532 S.E.2d at 286 (emphasis added).

Since the new crime of assault and battery in the second degree retains the “present ability” language when it references an assault (“offers or attempts to injure another person with the *present ability* to do so”), it is appropriate to also retain the Sutton definition of assault and find that an assault can occur even where the defendant does not actually have the present ability to complete the intended bodily harm as long as the defendant intentionally creates a reasonable apprehension of the bodily harm.

In Appellant's case, there are two theories under which Appellant could be found guilty of assault and battery in the second degree. First, under the rationale just discussed above using the Sutton definition of assault, Appellant would be guilty if she offered or attempted to injure another person with the present ability to do so, or if she offered or attempted to injure another person and in doing so created a reasonable apprehension that the intended injury would occur, and where moderate bodily injury to another person results or could have resulted. See S.C. Code § 16-3-600(A)(2) & (D)(1)(a); see Sutton at 398, 532 S.E.2d at 285-86. Here, the evidence presented at trial supported that Appellant offered to injure Officer Totherow by giving him the AIDS virus through biting him on the arm, and in doing so she created a reasonable apprehension on the part of Officer Totherow that he would contract the AIDS virus and "moderate bodily injury" could thereby have resulted. See S.C. Code § 16-3-600(A)(2) (defining "moderate bodily injury" as "physical injury requiring treatment to an organ system of the body other than the skin, muscles, and connective tissues of the body, except when there is penetration of the skin, muscles, and connective tissues that require surgical repair of a complex nature or when treatment of the injuries requires the use of regional or general anesthesia").

Appellant could also be found guilty of assault and battery in the second degree under a second theory. Officer Totherow testified that Appellant "locked down" on his arm "pretty good" when she bit him and that as soon as she released his arm she stated that she "had AIDS" and hoped he now had it also. (R. p. 77-78). The fact that Appellant stated she had AIDS and hoped Officer Totherow had it too indicated that Appellant intended not a superficial bite, but a bite that would be deep enough to cause a virus such as the AIDS virus to be transmitted from the saliva in her mouth to the blood in Officer Totherow's arm. Thus, there was evidence that Appellant "unlawfully

injure[d] another person” and that “moderate bodily injury” “could have resulted” because a bite of the severity intended by Appellant could have easily penetrated Officer Totherow’s skin to a greater depth and required “surgical repair of a complex nature” or the “use of regional or general anesthesia” in the treatment of the wound. See S.C. Code § 16-3-600(A)(2) & (D)(1)(a).

Accordingly, because sufficient evidence was presented, under two different theories of guilt, supporting that Appellant committed assault and battery in the second degree, Appellant’s directed verdict motion was properly denied.<sup>3</sup> See State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292-93, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006) (“If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.”).

**II. The trial judge properly permitted testimony about the statement Appellant made to the officer immediately after she bit him because this testimony was part of the *res gestae* of the crime and because it was highly relevant to show Appellant’s intent and to rebut her contention that the bite was accidentally inflicted in the course of an alleged panic attack.**

Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in admitting the statement she made immediately after biting Officer Totherow because the statement was not relevant and because the probative value of admitting the statement was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. To the contrary, the trial judge properly admitted Appellant’s statement that she “had AIDS” and hoped the officer had it too. First, Appellant’s statement was clearly part of the *res gestae* of the offense since it was made

---

<sup>3</sup> Assuming the issue were preserved for review, and assuming this Court were to find that the State failed to establish the element of “moderate bodily injury,” as Appellant contends, the State submits that the most appropriate remedy would be a remand for sentencing on the lesser-included offense of assault and battery in the third degree pursuant to State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 548-49, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011). See S.C. Code § 16-3-600(E).

almost contemporaneously with the bite and was “part and parcel” of the crime. (See R. p. 13, line 2 – p. 14, line 7). See State v. Gilmore, 396 S.C. 72, 82-83, 719 S.E.2d 688, 694 (Ct. App. 2011); State v. Gagum, 328 S.C. 560, 565, 492 S.E.2d 822, 824 (Ct. App. 1997); see also Anderson v. State, 354 S.C. 431, 435, 581 S.E.2d 834, 836 (2003).

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